AGREEMENT

between the

STATE OF WISCONSIN

and the

WISCONSIN STATE BUILDING TRADES NEGOTIATING COMMITTEE

and its

APPROPRIATE AFFILIATED BUILDING TRADES COUNCILS

June 7, 2008 - June 30, 2009

Language in this Agreement which is new or changed from the 2005-2007 Agreement is underlined.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AGREEMENT
PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT
ARTICLE I - Scope of the Agreement
ARTICLE II - Recognition and Union Security
Section 1 - Bargaining Units
Section 2 - Dues Deduction or Fair Share
Section 3 - Union Activity
Section 4 - Printing of Agreement
Section 5 - Visitations
Section 6 - Notice of Promotional Exams
Section 7 - Union Conventions and Educational Classes
Section 8 - Union-Management Meetings
Section 9 - Statewide Council-Management Meetings
Section 10 - Discrimination
ARTICLE III - Management Rights
ARTICLE IV - Grievance Procedure
Section 1 - Definition9
Section 2 - Grievance Steps
Step One
Step Two
Step Three
Section 3 - Time Limits
Section 4 - Representation
Section 5 - Retroactivity
Section 6 - Exclusive Procedure
Section 7 - Processing Grievances
Section 8 - Number of Stewards
Section 9 – Union Grievances
Section 10 – Group Grievances
Section 11 - Discipline
Section 12 - Exclusion of Probationary Employees
ARTICLE V - Seniority

ARTICLE VI - Transfers	. 16
Section 1 - General	16
Section 2 - Vacancies	16
Section 3 - Inter-Agency Transfer	16
Section 4 - Definition of Vacancy	. 16
Section 5 - Limitations	
ARTICLE VII - Wages and Employee Benefits	
Section 1 - Adjusted State Prevailing Rate	
Section 2 - Night Differential	
Section 3 - Overtime	
Section 4 - Health Insurance	20
Section 5 - Employee-Funded Reimbursement Accounts (ERA)	20
Section 6 - Income Continuation Insurance	
Section 7 - Lead Craftsworker	21
Section 8 - Sick Leave	
Section 9 - Paid Annual Leave of Absence	24
Section 10 - Leave for Promotional Exams	. 25
Section 11 - Leaves of Absence Without Pay	. 25
Section 12 - Holidays	. 27
A. Holidays	. 27
B. Holiday Time	28
C. Holiday Premium Pay	
Section 13 - Military Service	
Section 14 - Jury Duty	30
Section 15 - Witness Fees	
Section 16 - Retirement and other Benefits under Chapter 40, Wis. Stats	31
Section 17 - Life Insurance	
Section 18 - Leaves of Absence With Pay Due to Injury Under Special	
Conditions	31
Section 19 - Travel and Lodging	. 33
Section 20 - Wash-up Time	
Section 21 - Call-Back Time	
Section 22 - Standby	
Section 23 - Masters Plumbers License	
Section 24 - Damaged Clothing	
Section 25 - Commercial Motor Vehicle Driver's License	
Section 26 – Catastrophic Leave	
ı	
ARTICLE VIII - Layoff Procedure	38
Section 1 - Application for Layoff	. 38
Section 2 - General Layoff Procedures	. 38
Section 3 - Notice of Layoff	38
Section 4 - Employee Counseling	. 38
Section 5 - Reduction in Hours	39
Section 6 - Bumping	
Section 7 - Recall	

Section 8 - Reinstatement	
Section 9 - Transfer in Lieu of Layoff	40
ARTICLE IX - Hours of Work	41
ARTICLE X - Health and Safety	42
Section 1 - General	42
Section 2 - Applicable Statutory Provisions	42
A. Public Employee Safety and Health	42
B. Toxic Substances, Infectious Agents and Pesticides	42
Section 3 - Protective Clothing and Equipment	
Section 4 - Foot Protection	
Section 5 - Eye Examination	43
Section 6 - Transportation of Tools	
ADTICLE VI. No Chailes on Londont	11
ARTICLE XI - No Strike or Lockout	44
ARTICLE XII - General	45
Section 1 - Obligation to Bargain	45
Section 2 - Retroactivity	45
Section 3 - Partial Invalidity	45
Section 4 - Definition of Probationary Employee	45
Section 5 - Work Rules	
Section 6 - Contracting Out	46
ADDICK E VIII TE CA	47
ARTICLE XIII - Termination of Agreement	
Termination of Agreement	
Negotiations of Future Agreements	47
NEGOTIATING NOTE #1 – Pay Retroactivity	48
NEGOTIATING NOTE #2 – Reduction Formula Calculation	48
NEGOTIATING NOTE #3 – Parking/Public Transit Account	50
MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 1 – Dental Plan	51
BARGAINING TEAMS	56

AGREEMENT

This Agreement made and entered into this <u>seventh</u> day of <u>June</u>, <u>2008</u>, at Madison, Wisconsin, pursuant to the provisions of ss. 111.80-111.94, Wis. Stats., by and between the State of Wisconsin and its Agencies (hereinafter referred to as the Employer) represented by the Office of State Employment Relations and the Wisconsin State Building Trades Negotiating Committee, AFL-CIO, and its appropriate affiliated locals, as representative of employees employed by the State of Wisconsin, (as set forth specifically in the Recognition Clause) hereinafter referred to as the Union.

PURPOSE OF AGREEMENT

It is the intent and purpose of the parties hereto that this Agreement constitutes an implementation of the provisions of ss. 111.80-111.94, Wis. Stats., consistent with the legislative authority contained therein, and provides for orderly and constructive employment relations in the public interest and in the interests of employees hereby covered and the State as an Employer.

The parties do hereby acknowledge that this Agreement represents an amicable understanding reached by the parties as the result of the unlimited right and opportunity of the parties to make any and all demands with respect to the Employer-employee relationship which exists between them relative to the subjects of bargaining.

ARTICLE I

Scope of the Agreement

1/1/1 This Agreement relates only to classified employees of the State of Wisconsin in the appropriate collective bargaining units as defined by the Wisconsin Employment Relations Commission certifications Cases V and VI; Nos. 15579 and 15580; SE-40 and SE-41; Decision Nos. 10991-B and 10992-B, dated January 4, 1973.

ARTICLE II

Recognition and Union Security

Section 1 - Bargaining Units

2/1/1 The Employer recognizes the Union as the exclusive collective bargaining agent for all Craft employees as listed below:

Asbestos Worker Painter
Bricklayer and Mason Plasterer
Carpenter Plumber

Electrician Sheet Metal Worker

Elevator Constructor Steamfitter

Glazier Terrazzo and Tile Setter

Craftsworker - Lead Welder

2/1/2 "Craft employee" means a skilled journeyman craftworker, including his/her apprentices and helpers, but shall not include employees not in direct line of progression in the craft.

2/1/3 Employees excluded from this collective bargaining unit are all office, blue collar, technical, security and public safety, clerical, professional, confidential, project, limited term, management, and supervisory employees. All employees are in the classified service of the State of Wisconsin as listed in the certifications by the Wisconsin Employment Relations Commission as set forth in this Section.

2/1/4 The parties will review all new unit classifications and if unable to reach agreement as to their inclusion or exclusion from the bargaining unit, shall submit such classifications to the Wisconsin Employment Relations Commission for final resolution.

2/1/5 The Employer shall notify the Union (Chairman of the Building Trades Negotiating Committee) and shall comply with the other provisions contained in s. 16.705, Wis. Stats., and Chapter ADM. 10, Wis. Admin. Code when planning to engage in the procurement of contractual services. The Employer agrees to meet with the Union to discuss alternatives to the intended contracting out if the Union requests such a meeting within twenty-one (21) calendar days after notification.

Section 2 - Dues Deduction or Fair Share

2/2/1 The Employer agrees to deduct the amount of dues or the proportionate share of the cost of the collective bargaining process and contract administration measured by the amount of dues uniformly required of all members, as certified by the Union from the earnings of the employees in the units. The amount so deducted shall be paid to the Union.

2/2/2 The Union shall indemnify and save the Employer harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits, or other forms of liability which may arise out of any action taken or not taken by the Employer for the purpose of complying with the provisions of this Section.

Section 3 - Union Activity

2/3/1 Bargaining unit employees, including those who are Union officers and representatives, shall not conduct any Union activity or Union business on State time except as specifically authorized by the provisions of this Agreement.

Section 4 - Printing of Agreement

2/4/1 The Employer and the Union shall agree on the printer and the cost of printing this Agreement. The <u>parties</u> shall <u>both have</u> an opportunity to proof this Agreement prior to printing and distribution. Any material put into the Agreement that is not initialed and proofed by the Employer and Union will not be considered a valid part of this Agreement. <u>Prior to the printing of this Agreement, the Employer and the Union shall agree on the number of Agreements to be printed. Each party will pay for the number of Agreements they ordered. A request will be made to the printer that a separate bill be provided for the Union and the Employer.</u>

<u>2/4/2</u> It shall be the responsibility of the Union to provide the employees presently covered by this Agreement with a copy of the Agreement. The Employer shall be responsible for providing copies of the Agreement to all employees added to this unit during the term of the Agreement.

<u>2/4/3</u> The Employer agrees that, as soon as administratively feasible after the printing of the Agreement, a complete copy of the Agreement be posted on the Employer's website.

Section 5 - Visitations

2/5/1 The Employer agrees that non-employee officers and representatives of the Union shall be admitted to the premises of the Employer during working hours upon advance notice, twenty four (24) hours if possible, to the appropriate Employer representative. Such visitations shall be for the purpose of ascertaining whether or not this Agreement is being observed by the parties and for the adjustment of grievances. The Union agrees that such activities shall not interfere with the normal work duties of employees. The Employer reserves the right to designate a meeting place or to provide a representative to accompany the Union officer where operational requirements do not permit unlimited access.

Section 6 - Notice of Promotional Exams

2/6/1 The Employer shall post on applicable bulletin boards notices of all promotional examinations for which bargaining unit employees are qualified. The parties agree the above notices are for informational purposes only.

Section 7 - Union Conventions and Educational Classes

2/7/1 Employees who are elected or selected to attend Union conventions, conferences or educational sessions shall be granted time off without pay not to exceed ten (10) workdays annually for such purposes. This time off may be charged to vacation, holiday credits or to leave of absence without pay as the individual employee may designate. The Union shall give the Employer at least fourteen (14) calendar days advance notice of the employee(s) who will be attending such functions.

Section 8 - Union-Management Meetings

2/8/1 Once each month, unless mutually agreed otherwise, at each facility where five (5) or more bargaining unit employees are employed, at a mutually agreed upon time, the appropriate management representative or his/her designee and other representatives designated by the Employer shall meet with one employee member of the Building Trades Unit. [At the University of Wisconsin-Madison Campus two (2) bargaining unit employees will be authorized to attend the meetings.] Upon request, on a quarterly basis unless mutually agreed otherwise, facilities that employ less than five (5) bargaining unit employees shall conduct meetings with one employee member at mutually agreed upon times. If requested by the authorized employee representative, the Employer may permit additional Building Trade employees and/or Craft business agents to attend a particular Union-Management Meeting. The purpose of each meeting shall be to:

- A. Discuss the administration of the Agreement;
- B. Disseminate general information of interest to the parties;
- C. Give the employee representative the opportunity to express his/her views on subjects of interest to employees of the bargaining unit;
- D. Consider health and safety matters relating to bargaining unit employees in the department.

2/8/2 The parties agree that such meetings will be exclusive of the grievance procedure and grievances being processed shall not be considered at these meetings. Employees will be in pay status for time spent in Union-Management Meetings held during their regularly scheduled hours of employment. Any travel and subsistence incurred shall be the responsibility of the employee.

Section 9 - Statewide Council-Management Meetings

2/9/1 As mutually agreed, a representative of the Bureau of Labor Relations, Office of State Employment Relations and the appropriate Agency Representative will meet with the Council Representative to discuss major problems that may arise from administration of this Agreement.

Section 10 - Discrimination

2/10/1 Employees under this Agreement shall be covered by Chapter 111, Wis. Stats., Subchapter II, the State Fair Employment Act.

ARTICLE III

Management Rights

3/1/1 It is understood and agreed by the parties that management possesses the sole right to operate its agencies so as to carry out the statutory mandate and goals assigned to the agencies and that all management rights repose in management; however, such rights must be exercised consistently with the other provisions of this Agreement.

3/1/2 Management rights include:

- A. To utilize personnel, methods, and means in the most appropriate and efficient manner possible as determined by management.
 - B. To manage and direct the employees of the various agencies.
- C. To transfer, assign or retain employees in positions within the agency.
- D. To suspend, demote, discharge or take other appropriate disciplinary action against employees for just cause.
- E. To determine the size and composition of the work force and to lay off employees in the event of lack of work or funds or under conditions where management believes that continuation of such work would be inefficient or nonproductive.
- F. To determine the mission of the agency and the methods and means necessary to fulfill that mission including the contracting out for or the transfer, alteration, curtailment or discontinuance of any goals or services. However, the provisions of this Article shall not be used for the purpose of undermining the Union or discriminating against any of its members.
- 3/1/3 It is agreed by the parties that none of the management rights noted above or any other management rights shall be subjects of bargaining during the term of this Agreement. Additionally, it is recognized by the parties that the Employer is prohibited from bargaining on the policies, practices and procedures of the civil service merit system relating to:
- A. Original appointments and promotions specifically including recruitment, examinations, certifications, appointments, and policies with respect to probationary periods.

B. The job evaluation system specifically including position classification, position qualification standards, establishment and abolition of classifications, assignment and reassignment of classifications to salary ranges, and allocation and reallocation of positions to classifications, and the determination of an incumbent's status resulting from position reallocation.

ARTICLE IV

Grievance Procedure

Section 1 - Definition

- **4/1/1** A grievance is defined as, and limited to, a written complaint involving an alleged violation of a specific provision of this Agreement.
- **4/1/2** Only one (1) subject matter shall be covered in any one (1) grievance. A grievance shall contain a clear and concise statement of the grievance by indicating the issue involved, the relief sought, the date the incident or violation took place, and the specific section or sections of the Agreement involved. The grievance shall be presented to the designated supervisor involved in quadruplicate (on forms furnished by the Employer to the Union and any prospective grievant) and signed and dated by the employee(s) and/or Union representative.
- An employee may choose to have his/her appropriate Union representative represent him/her at any step of the grievance procedure. If an employee brings any grievance to the Employer's attention without first having notified the Union, the Employer representative to whom such grievance is brought shall immediately notify the appropriate Union representative and no further discussion shall be had on the matter until the appropriate Union representative has been given notice and an opportunity to be present. The appropriate union representative is the steward if one has been designated for the local job headquarters. If the steward is absent or if no steward has been designated, the appropriate union representative shall be the business agent of the employee's union local which represents the area in which the employee's job headquarters is located. Individual employees or groups of employees shall have the right to present grievances in person or through other non-Building Trades representatives of their own choosing at any step of the grievance procedure including arbitration, provided that the appropriate Union representative has been afforded the opportunity to be present at any discussions and that any settlement reached is not inconsistent with the provisions of this Agreement.
- **4/1/4** All grievances must be presented promptly and no later than thirty (30) calendar days from the date the grievant first became aware of, or should have become aware of with the exercise of reasonable diligence, the cause of such grievance.

- **4/2/1 Step One:** Within seven (7) calendar days of receipt of the written grievance from the employee(s) or his/her representative, the immediate supervisor and/or the designated employing unit representative will schedule a meeting with the employee and his/her representative to hear the grievance and return a written answer to the employee and his/her representative. The parties can mutually agree to waive Step One.
- **4/2/2 Step Two**: If dissatisfied with management's answer in Step One, to be considered further, the grievance must be appealed to the appointing authority or his/her designee (i.e., Division Administrator, Bureau Director, or personnel office) within seven (7) calendar days from receipt of the answer in Step One. The designated agency representative(s) will meet with the employee and his/her designated representative(s) to discuss and attempt to resolve the grievance. Following this meeting, the written decision of the agency will be placed on the grievance by the appointing authority or his/her designee and returned to the grievant and his/her representative, within twenty-one (21) calendar days from receipt of the appeal to Step Two.
- 4/2/3 Step Three: Grievances which have not been settled under the foregoing procedure may be appealed to arbitration by either party within fifteen (15) calendar days from the date of the agency's answer in Step Two, or the grievance will be considered ineligible for appeal to arbitration. The party to which unresolved second step grievances are appealed to arbitration is the Office of State Employment Relations. If an unresolved grievance is not appealed to arbitration, it shall be considered terminated on the basis of the Second Step answers of the parties without prejudice or precedent in the resolution of future grievances. The issue as stated in the Second Step shall constitute the sole and entire subject matter to be heard by the arbitrator, unless the parties agree to modify the scope of the hearing.
- **4/2/4** For the purpose of selecting an impartial arbitrator, the parties or party, acting jointly or separately, shall request the Wisconsin Employment Relations Commission to appoint a staff member to serve as the impartial arbitrator of the grievance.
- 4/2/5 Where two (2) or more grievances are appealed to arbitration, an effort will be made by the parties to agree upon the grievances to be heard by any one (1) arbitrator. On the grievances where agreement is not reached, a separate arbitrator shall be appointed for each grievance. The cost of the arbitrator and expenses of the hearing, including a court reporter if requested by either party, will be shared equally by the parties. Each of the parties shall bear the cost of their own witnesses, including any lost wages that may be incurred. On grievances where the arbitrability of the subject matter is an issue, a separate arbitrator shall be appointed to determine the question of arbitrability, unless the parties agree otherwise. Where the question of arbitrability is not an issue, the arbitrator shall only have authority to

determine compliance with the provisions of this Agreement. The arbitrator shall not have jurisdiction or authority to add to, amend, modify, nullify, or ignore in any way the provisions of this Agreement and shall not make any award which in effect would grant the Union or the Employer any matters which were not obtained in the negotiation process. The arbitrator shall render a decision within thirty (30) calendar days following the hearing or within thirty (30) calendar days of receipt of the briefs submitted by the parties.

4/2/6 The decision of the arbitrator will be final and binding on both parties to this Agreement.

Section 3 - Time Limits

4/3/1 Grievances not appealed within the designated time limits in any step of the grievance procedure will be considered as having been adjudicated on the basis of the last preceding Employer answer. Grievances not answered by the Employer within the designated time limits in any step of the grievance procedure may be appealed to the next step within seven (7) calendar days of the expiration of the designated time limits. The parties may, however, mutually agree in writing to extend the time limits in any step of the grievance procedure.

4/3/2 If the Employer representative with whom a grievance appeal must be filed is located in a city other than that in which the grievance was processed in the preceding step, the mailing of the grievance appeal form shall constitute a timely appeal if it is postmarked within the appeal period. Likewise, when an Employer answer must be forwarded to a city other than that in which the Employer representative works, the mailing of the answer shall constitute a timely response if it is postmarked within the answer period.

Section 4 - Representation

4/4/1 An employee may consult with his/her local Union representative during working hours for a reasonable period of time relative to the grievance matter by first contacting his/her immediate supervisor. The employee's supervisor will arrange a meeting to take place as soon as possible for the employee with his/her Union representative through the Union representative's supervisor.

Section 5 - Retroactivity

4/5/1 Settlement of grievances may or may not be retroactive as the equities of particular cases may demand. In any case, where it is determined that the award should be applied retroactively, except for administrative errors relating to the payment of wages, the maximum period of retroactivity allowed shall be a date not earlier than thirty (30) calendar days prior to the date of initiation of the written grievance in Step One. Employees who voluntarily terminate their employment will have their grievances immediately withdrawn and will not benefit by any later settlement of a group grievance.

Section 6 - Exclusive Procedure

4/6/1 The grievance procedure set out above shall be exclusive and shall replace any other grievance procedure or appeal procedure for adjustment of any disputes arising from the application and interpretation of this Agreement.

Section 7 - Processing Grievances

- **4/7/1** Grievance representatives and grievants will be permitted a reasonable amount of time without loss of pay to process grievances during their regularly scheduled hours of employment.
- **4/7/2** Group grievances are defined as, and limited to, those grievances which cover more than one (1) employee, and which involve like circumstances and facts for the grievants involved. A group grievance must be designated as a group grievance at each step of the grievance procedure and shall set forth thereon the names and classifications of the employees covered by the group grievance.
- **4/7/3** The Employer is not responsible for any compensation of employees or Union representatives for time spent processing grievances outside their regularly scheduled hours of employment. The Employer is also not responsible for any travel or subsistence expenses incurred by grievants or Union representatives in the processing of grievances.

Section 8 - Number of Stewards

4/8/1 The Union may designate a steward for each craft at UW-Milwaukee and UW-Madison. Also one (1) steward for all crafts may be designated at all other institutions. The Union shall notify the Employer in writing of the names of the stewards and their respective jurisdictional areas within thirty (30) calendar days of their appointment.

Section 9 – Union Grievances

4/9/1 Group representatives who are members of the bargaining unit shall have the right to file and process a grievance when any provision of this Agreement has been violated or when the Employer interpretation of the terms and provisions of the Agreement lead to a controversy with the Union over application of the terms or provisions of this Agreement. Such grievances must be designated as Union grievances at the initial step. One (1) grievant and his/her grievance representative shall appear without loss of pay to represent and serve as spokespersons for such grievances.

Section 10 – Group Grievances

4/10/1 Group grievances are defined as, and limited to, those grievances which cover more than one (1) employee, and which involve like circumstances and facts for the grievants involved. Individual grievances that meet the definition of a group grievance as contained herein shall be consolidated at each step of the procedure. A group grievance must be designated as a group grievance at each step of the grievance procedure and shall set forth thereon the names and classifications of the employees covered by the group grievance. No employees may be added to the list of group grievants after the Second Step hearing. Relief is restricted to those employees identified in the group grievance. Only one (1) of the grievants and his/her grievance representative shall appear without loss of pay to represent and serve as spokespersons for the entire group.

Section 11 - Discipline

- **4/11/1** The parties recognize the authority of the Employer to suspend, demote, discharge, or take other appropriate disciplinary action against employees for just cause. An employee who alleges that such action was not based on just cause may appeal a demotion, suspension, discharge, or written reprimand taken by the Employer beginning with the Third Step of the grievance procedure, except that written reprimands shall begin with the First Step of the grievance procedure.
- **4/11/2** A grievance in response to a written reprimand shall begin at the step of the grievance procedure which is appropriate to the level of authority of the person signing the written reprimand.
- **4/11/3** An employee shall be entitled to the presence of a designated grievance representative at an investigatory interview (including informal counseling) if he/she requests one and if the employee has reasonable grounds to believe that the interview may be used to support disciplinary action against him/her.
- **4/11/4** Unless Union representation is present during informal counseling or performance evaluation, disciplinary action cannot be taken at such counseling or performance evaluation meetings. The occurrence of an informal counseling or performance evaluation meeting shall not be used as the basis for or as evidence in any subsequent disciplinary action. Such a meeting can be used to establish that an employee had been made aware of the circumstances which resulted in informal counseling or performance evaluation.
- **4/11/5** If any discipline is taken against an employee, both the employee and the Union will receive copies of this disciplinary action. If the supervisor and the employee meet to explain or discuss the discipline, a Union representative shall be present if requested.

4/11/6 It is understood that letters of reprimand will be removed upon an employee's request from an employee's personnel file if the employee has received no other discipline within a twelve (12) month time period after the letter of reprimand was issued.

Section 12 - Exclusion of Probationary Employees

4/12/1 Notwithstanding Section 11 above, the retention or release of probationary employees shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE V

Seniority

- 5/1/1 Seniority for employees hired after the effective date of this Agreement shall be determined by the original date of employment with the State of Wisconsin. Seniority for existing bargaining unit employees shall be their seniority date as of the effective date of this Agreement. Seniority for employees who become members of the bargaining unit during the term of this Agreement shall be their adjusted continuous service date as of the time they became members of the unit. When the Employer becomes responsible for a function previously administered by another governmental agency, a quasi-public, or a private enterprise, the seniority of employees who become bargaining unit members as a result of this change of responsibility shall be their date of accretion into state service unless the legislation or the Executive Order causing such accretion specifies differently. Such seniority will be changed only where the employee is separated from state service by discharge, resignation or layoff.
- **5/1/2** The Employer shall notify the Union as soon as possible of any legislative hearings scheduled to discuss state assumption of functions currently administered by another governmental agency, a quasi-public or private enterprise.
- **5/1/3** Where separation has occurred and the employee is subsequently rehired, the date of rehire will begin the seniority date except where an employee is laid off and recalled or reinstated from layoff within five (5) years thereof, he/she shall retain his/her original date of employment for the computation of seniority.
- **5/1/4** In the event two (2) employees have the same seniority date, seniority of the one as against the other shall be determined by age with the oldest employee considered having the greatest seniority.
- **5/1/5** Management will be required to apply seniority as defined above only as specifically provided in this Agreement and subject to any limitations set forth in any particular article or section of this Agreement.

ARTICLE VI

Transfers

Section 1 - General

6/1/1 Craft employees who have permanent status in their current classifications and desire to transfer within their agency shall file a written request as prescribed by the agency with the appropriate personnel office indicating that interest.

Section 2 - Vacancies

- **6/2/1** When a permanent vacancy occurs, in a permanent position, the Employer will consider those requests on file from any craft employees in the agency who are in the same classification as the vacancy and have indicated an interest in the specific shift or location of the vacancy. Such requests shall remain in effect for the duration of this Agreement.
- **6/2/2** Any craft employee who is selected for transfer shall have three (3) workdays in which to accept or decline the offer.

Section 3 - Inter-Agency Transfer

- **6/3/1** In the event that the vacancy is not filled by transfer of a craft employee under the provisions of Section 2 of this Article, the Employer will consider interested craft employees from other agencies within the state service who have registered with the agency. A craft employee's registration for transfer under this section shall be in effect for the duration of this Agreement.
- **6/3/2** An interested employee who is not selected for transfer under section 6/3/1 shall receive notice from the Employer of his/her non-selection. Upon receipt of a written request from the employee, the Employer shall provide that employee with the written reason(s) for non-selection.

Section 4 - Definition of Vacancy

- **6/4/1** For purposes of this Article, a permanent vacancy is created:
- A. When the Employer has approval to increase the work force and decides to fill the new positions;
- B. When any of the following personnel transactions take place and the Employer decides to replace the previous incumbent: terminations, transfers out of the bargaining unit, promotion, demotion, resignation, or retirement;
- C. Transfers within the bargaining unit resulting from either A. or B. above.

Section 5 - Limitations

- **6/5/1** A. The applications of the procedures in this Article shall be limited to a maximum of three (3) transfers resulting from any given original vacancy.
- B. Employees may not transfer under the provisions of Section 1 of this Article more often than once every six (6) months.
- C. Employees transferring under the provisions of this Article shall not be eligible for payment of time or expenses incurred by virtue of a request for a transfer or the transfer itself; specifically including, but not limited to, moving expenses.

ARTICLE VII

Wages and Employee Benefits

Section 1 - Adjusted State Prevailing Rate

- **7/1/1** A. Bargaining unit employees shall receive the adjusted state prevailing rate. The adjusted state prevailing rate is based on the gross area building construction prevailing craft rate, which is the base rate plus employer-paid employee benefits including industry promotion and training funds. The total gross amount is then adjusted downward by the value of the state-provided employee benefits to arrive at the effective value of the adjusted state prevailing rate. The preceding shall not include any area negotiated pay rate add-ons except for spray painting. The statewide pay rate add-on for spray painting shall be fifty cents (\$.50) per hour.
- B. Effective July 1, 2005, the adjustment for state employee benefits shall be seventeen and a two-tenths percent (17.2%) of the gross area building construction prevailing craft rate (base plus fringes) plus the cost of the optional health insurance.
- C. Effective July 1, 2005, the adjusted state prevailing rate will be eighty-two and eight-tenths percent (82.8%) of the gross area building construction prevailing rate less the cost of the optional health insurance.
- D. For those employees electing the one hundred twenty four (124) hours [fifteen and one half (15 1/2) days] or one hundred forty (140) hours [seventeen and one half (17 1/2) days] annual leave option pursuant to the provisions of 7/9/1, effective July 1, 2005 the adjusted state prevailing rate will be eighty-one and a half percent (81.5%) of the gross area building construction prevailing rate less the cost of the optional health insurance, for the calendar year to which their election applies.
- E. For those employees eligible for and selecting the one hundred eighty hours [twenty two and one half (22 1/2) days] annual leave option pursuant to the provisions of 7/9/1, effective July 1, 2005 the adjusted state prevailing rate will be eighty and two-tenths percent (80.2%) of the gross area building construction prevailing rate less the cost of the optional health insurance, for the calendar year to which their election applies.
- F. The gross area building construction prevailing craft rate utilized will be the applicable collectively bargained rate for the jurisdictional area in which the employee's job headquarters is located.
- G. The Equal Rights Division in DWD shall certify the official gross area building construction prevailing craft rate for the Employer.

- 1. New Agreements: The effective date for implementation of changes in the prevailing rate shall be the negotiated effective date but shall be no earlier than ninety (90) days prior to receipt of notification by DWD of the "Local Union Wage and Employment Report". If the "Local Union Wage and Employment Report" is sent by certified mail--return receipt requested, then the postmarked date shall constitute the date received.
- 2. Interim Changes: Subsequent or interim changes which are contained in existing local craft agreements, shall be made effective on the dates specified in those agreements subject to the ninety (90) day limitation set forth above.
- H. Prior to appointing an apprentice the Employer shall meet with the Union representative of that trade to determine the rate to be paid. If the parties are unable to agree to a rate and the Employer appoints at a unilaterally determined rate, the Union can file a grievance challenging the calculation of that rate.

Section 2 - Night Differential

7/2/1 Work performed between the hours of 6 p.m. and 6 a.m. will receive an additional forty-five cents (\$.45) per hour added to the adjusted state rate.

Section 3 - Overtime

- **7/3/1** The adjusted state rate for time worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek will be at the premium rate of one hundred thirty six percent (136%) of the total gross area prevailing rate. The Employer agrees to compensate employees for hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek at the premium rate in cash.
- 7/3/2 All time in pay status shall be considered time worked for purposes of establishing the forty (40) hour base for overtime premium rate.
- 7/3/3 In lieu of cash, the Employer and employee can mutually agree to the use of Compensatory Time for all or part of the hours. If the Employer agrees to the use of Compensatory Time, the amount of time earned shall be one and one-half (1 1/2) times the actual hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours in a workweek. The scheduling and use of Compensatory Time shall be in accordance with those provisions applicable to annual leave as specified in 7/9/1/E., except those pertaining to carryover.
- 7/3/4 Compensatory time hours in excess of forty (40) hours in an employee's account may be liquidated at any time by the Employer either through cash payment or by directing an employee to take the time off.

Section 4 - Health Insurance

- **7/4/1** The Employer agrees to make available on an optional basis the same health insurance benefits to Craft bargaining unit employees on a cost basis as are provided for non-represented employees. Employees who participate in the health insurance program are required to pay the entire premium costs.
- 7/4/2 The Employer agrees to allow payroll deductions for any non-State Health Insurance plans consistent with the provisions of s. 20.921(1)(3), Wis. Stats.

Section 5 - Employee-Funded Reimbursement Accounts (ERA)

- 7/5/1 Effective July 1, 1990, the Employer agrees to offer employees the opportunity to participate in the Employee-Funded Reimbursement Account Program, as administered under the provision of Chapter 40, Wis. Stats., and the contract between the plan administrator and the Department of Employee Trust Funds. In conjunction with the implementation of this new benefit, employees who are enrolled in the optional Health Insurance Program shall pay the total premium cost via a payroll deduction. The total monthly health insurance premium cost shall be split with equal deductions taken from the employees' "A" and "B" biweekly paychecks. For administrative purposes, the new premium deduction cycle shall be started at the beginning of a "B" payroll period. Correspondingly, terminating employees whose last day in pay status occurs during a "B" payroll period shall not have payments for health insurance premiums deducted from that biweekly paycheck. The Employer reserves the right to modify any other administrative procedures which may be necessary to accommodate the installation of this new employee health insurance premium payment system.
- 7/5/2 (The following health insurance premium payment processing changes are transitional only and shall apply to all participating employees in order to facilitate the implementation of this new program.)
- A. Effective June 30, 1990, all hourly pay rate premium deductions will cease.
- B. Effective July 1, 1990, employees will pay a 100% total monthly premium cost out of that "A" biweekly paycheck and the next five (5) "A" biweekly paychecks.
- C. Effective December 30, 1990, employees will pay a 50% total monthly premium cost out of that biweekly paycheck and each subsequent "A" and "B" biweekly paychecks.)

Section 6 - Income Continuation Insurance

7/6/1 The Employer agrees to continue in effect the Income Continuation Program and the administrative provisions of the program provided under Chapter 40, Wis. Stats. and the master contract between the insurance carrier and the Group Insurance Board.

Section 7 - Lead Craftsworker

7/7/1 Lead craftsworkers perform work in their craft and in addition, are formally assigned to direct the work of other employees in the same craft. Lead craftsworkers (LC) will be compensated at the adjusted prevailing rate for their craft plus fifty cents (\$.50) per hour.

7/7/2 In addition, the Employer may assign an employee to serve as a Temporary Lead Craftsworker (TLC). After such assignment exceeds forty (40) consecutive hours in pay status, the employee so assigned shall receive an add-on payment of twenty cents (\$.20) per hour. When an employee qualifies for the add-on, the twenty cents (\$.20) per hour payment shall be made for each hour worked on the assignment including those hours worked during the qualifying period. A Temporary Lead Craftsworker assignment shall not exceed one thousand forty three (1043) hours. Temporary Lead Craftsworker employee assignments and starting dates shall be at the discretion of the Employer, shall be in written form, and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure.

Section 8 - Sick Leave

7/8/1 A. The Employer agrees to provide a sick leave plan as follows:

- 1. Sick leave shall accrue at the rate of .0625 hour of sick leave for each hour in pay status, not to exceed five (5) hours of sick leave accrual in any biweekly pay period. Sick leave shall not be used until it has been accrued.
- 2. Sick leave shall not accrue during any period of absence without pay, except as provided in 7/11/1/C., 7/11/1/A.4. and contract negotiations, or for any hours worked in excess of eighty (80) hours per biweekly period of service.
- 3. Unused sick leave shall accumulate from year to year in the employee's sick leave account.
 - B. The Employer agrees to provide the following:
- 1. Employees may use accrued sick leave for personal illnesses, bodily injuries, maternity, or exposure to contagious disease: (a) which require the employee's confinement; or (b) which render the employee unable to perform assigned duties; or (c) where performance of assigned duties would

jeopardize the employee's health or recovery. When an employee has been identified as a sick leave abuser by the Employer and required to obtain a medical doctor's statement for sick leave use, the notice of such requirement shall be given to the employee in writing. If the medical certificate verifies that the employee was not abusing sick leave or is physically fit to report to work, the Employer shall pay the cost of the medical certificate. When an employee must obtain such medical certificate during his/her regularly scheduled hours of employment, he/she shall be allowed time off without loss of pay or sick leave credits to obtain the certificate. The employee shall be allowed reasonable time to obtain the appropriate medical certificate. If such medical certificate verifies the employee's sick leave use, that sick leave shall be granted immediately.

- 2. Employees may use accrued sick leave for personal medical or dental appointments which cannot be scheduled at times other than during working hours. To qualify for use of sick leave under this Section, employees must give the Employer three (3) workdays advance notice of appointments, except when emergency conditions prevail.
- 3. a. Where death occurs in the immediate family of an employee, accrued sick leave may be used. Immediate family is defined as, and limited to, the spouse, parents, stepparents, grandparents, foster parents, children, stepchildren, grandchildren, foster children, brothers (and their spouses), and sisters (and their spouses) of the employee or spouse; or other relatives of the employee or spouse residing in the household of the employee.
- b. Use of accrued sick leave shall normally be used during the seven (7) calendar day period immediately following the death. Where mitigating circumstances require a postponement in funeral arrangements, sick leave may be used at an appropriate later date for directly related purposes. Use of sick leave for death in the immediate family for the purposes of this Section is limited to a total of three (3) workdays, plus required travel time not to exceed four (4) workdays.
- 4. Employees may use one (1) day of accrued sick leave to attend the funeral of aunts, nieces, nephews, cousins, or uncles of the employee or spouse. Travel time required to attend such funerals shall not exceed four (4) workdays.
- 5. Employees may use accrued sick leave for temporary emergency care of ill or injured members of the immediate family (as defined in 7/8/1/B./3./a. for a limited period of time to permit the employee to make other arrangements. Use of sick leave for the purposes of this Section is limited to five (5) workdays for any one illness or injury, however, the use of sick leave may be extended to cover unusual circumstances provided prior approval is obtained. An employee may use sick leave for care of his wife and/or children immediately prior to and/or during the ten (10) day period following the birth of a child.

- 6. Employees may use accrued sick leave to care for adopted children. Use of sick leave for this purpose may not exceed five (5) workdays during the seven (7) calendar days immediately after taking custody of the child or children.
- 7. Employees may use accrued sick leave to supplement the Worker's Compensation benefits provided pursuant to Chapter 102, Wis. Stats., to the extent that the employee shall receive the equivalent of his/her regular base rate. The procedures necessary for the administration of this Section shall be developed by the Employer and shall be in accordance with the existing Wisconsin Statutes.
- C. Each employee's unused sick leave accumulated in their sick leave account as of the effective date of this Agreement shall be carried over under this Agreement. Employees who become bargaining unit members after the effective date of this Agreement and have unused sick leave accumulated in their sick leave account, shall have the amount accumulated in their account as of the date they become bargaining unit members, carried over under this Agreement.
- D. The Employer agrees to continue in effect the provisions of s. 40.05(4)(b), Wis. Stats., which provide that at the time of retirement or in the event of death, accumulated unused sick leave shall be converted at and credited to the employee's account. The conversion credits once recorded shall be the highest basic pay rate as provided in Chapter 40, Wis. Stats. and ETF Administrative Code used on behalf of the employee or surviving spouse to offset the cost of the monthly health insurance premiums as provided under the provisions of s. 40.05(4)(b), Wis. Stats.
- E. 1. After the effective date of this Agreement, separation from the service shall cancel all unused accumulated sick leave. However, when a person who is an employee with permanent status in class resigns, any unused accumulated sick leave shall be restored, if he/she is re-employed by the same agency or is rehired by any other agency of the State within five(5) years. If an employee with permanent status in a class is laid off, any unused accumulated sick leave shall be restored, if he/she is re-employed by the same agency or is rehired by any other agency of the State within five (5) years.
- 2. However, upon written request of an employee, accumulated unused sick leave shall, at the time of layoff, be converted to cash at the employee's current basic pay rate as provided in Chapter 40, Wis. Stats. and ETF Administrative Code for credits to be used to pay health insurance premium costs during the time of the layoff. Direct premium payment to the insurer shall be made by the Employer on behalf of the laid off employee. Premium payments under this provision shall be limited to a maximum period of five years from the date of layoff or shall cease the first of the month following the employee's acceptance of any other employment, whichever occurs first. At the time of reinstatement or recall, unused cash credits shall be reconverted to sick leave at the

same rate used for the original conversion and restored to the employee's sick leave account.

Section 9 - Paid Annual Leave of Absence

- **7/9/1** A. The Employer agrees to provide employees with a formal paid annual leave of absence plan (vacation).
- Employees shall begin earning annual leave on their first day in pay status. After completion of the first six (6) months in a permanent or seasonal position, employees are eligible for and shall be granted noncumulative annual leave based on the rate of eighty four (84) hours (10 1/2 days) for a full year of service each year. For those employees who elect, with a corresponding adjustment to their prevailing rate, after completion of the first six (6) months in a permanent or seasonal position, employees are eligible for and shall be granted noncumulative annual leave based on the rate of one hundred twenty four (124) hours (15 1/2 days) for a full year of service each year. After completion of twenty (20) years of service, employees are eligible for and shall be granted noncumulative annual leave based on the rate of one hundred (100) hours (12 1/2 days) for a full year of service each year. For those employees who elect, with a corresponding adjustment to their prevailing rate, after completion of twenty (20) years of service, employees are eligible for and shall be granted noncumulative annual leave based on the rate of one hundred forty (140) hours (17 1/2 days) or one hundred eighty hours (22 1/2 days) for a full year of service each year. Seasonal employees who are regularly employed for less than twelve (12) months out of a year and permanent part-time employees shall be granted pro rata annual leave. The employing Agency will notify employees of the date by which annual leave elections must be made.
- C. Annual leave credit in any given year shall not be earned for any period of absence without pay except as provided in 7/11/1/C., and for contract negotiations.
- D. Annual leave for covered employees shall be prorated during the first calendar year of employment at a rate of eighty four (84) or one hundred twenty four (124) hours and during the twenty-first (21st) year of employment at the rate of eighty four (84), one hundred (100), one hundred twenty four (124), one hundred forty (140) or one hundred eighty (180) hours respectively. Upon termination of employment, annual leave shall be prorated.
- E. 1. In scheduling vacation (annual leave), choice of time and amounts shall be governed by seniority as defined in Article V. The parties recognize that the Employer has the right to determine the number of employees within each classification and work unit that may be on vacation at any given time; however, vacations shall be granted at times and in amounts most desired by employees whenever operations permit. Scheduled vacations may be changed with the approval of management, providing no other employee's vacation selection is adversely affected. Once vacation periods have been scheduled, Employer initiated

changes in employee vacation schedules shall be made only to meet unanticipated staff shortages or emergencies. In the event the Employer finds it necessary to cancel a scheduled vacation, the affected employee may reschedule his/her vacation during the remainder of the calendar year or extend the scheduling of his/her vacation into the first six (6) months of the ensuing calendar year as they desire, providing it does not affect other employee's vacation period. Employees shall be permitted to carry over five (5) days of earned annual leave credit to the first six (6) months of the ensuing calendar year upon notification to the Employer.

2. If an employee becomes ill or injured immediately before or during a vacation, the employee may cancel his/her vacation period and utilize sick leave credits earned under the provision of Section 8 of this Article, commencing with the date that said employee informs his/her appropriate Employer representative.

Section 10 - Leave for Promotional Exams

7/10/1 The Employer agrees to provide leaves of absence for promotional examinations during scheduled work hours as follows: Each employee with permanent status in class shall be eligible for up to sixteen (16) hours paid leave time each calendar year for the purpose of competing in no more than two (2) examinations which could make the employee eligible for promotion and for participating in employment interviews in connection with such examinations when such examinations and interviews are conducted during an employee's scheduled work time.

7/10/2 An employee shall not be denied his or her requests for time to participate in examinations each calendar year and interviews in connection with such examinations provided five (5) workdays notice has been given by the employee so that work coverage will not be interrupted. Such time shall not exceed the number of hours reasonably required to attend such examinations and interviews, including travel time.

7/10/3 Leave time for more than two (2) examinations in each calendar year and interviews in connection with such examinations may be granted to employees at the discretion of the appointing authority.

Section 11 - Leaves of Absence Without Pay

7/11/1 A. Leaves of Absence.

- 1. Employees, upon request, may be granted leaves without pay at the sole discretion of the appointing authority for any reason for a period up to, but not exceeding one (1) year except as provided in 7/11/1/A.2., 3., 4. and 5.
- 2. Pregnant employees shall be granted a maternity leave of absence without pay as follows:

- a. The employee shall submit written notification to her immediate supervisor at least four (4) weeks prior to her anticipated departure stating the probable duration of the leave. Such leaves shall be granted for a period of time up to, but not exceeding six (6) months. Upon request of the employee and at the discretion of the appointing authority, maternity leaves of absence without pay may be extended or renewed for another period of time, not to exceed six (6) months. In no case shall the total period of leave exceed twelve (12) months.
- b. In no case shall the employee be required to leave prior to childbirth unless she is no longer able to satisfactorily perform the duties of her position.
- c. Except as provided under 7/8/1 (sick leave), all periods of leave related to maternity shall be leaves of absence without pay.
- 3. School Year Employees -Employees whose services are not required at institutions or schools during a summer or vacation period recess, shall be granted leave of absence without pay.
- 4. Except as provided in Section 13 of this Article, whenever an employee enters into the active military service of the United States, the employee shall be granted a military leave without pay as provided under s. 230.32, Wis. Stats., and the applicable federal statutes. The employee shall also be granted a military leave without pay as provided under applicable federal statutes for duly authorized inactive duty training, such as weekend drills.

<u>Employees on military leave without pay for duly</u> authorized inactive duty training or active duty training shall continue to earn vacation, sick leave, and legal holiday credits.

- 5. Employees adopting a child or children shall be granted a leave of absence without pay for a period of up to, but not exceeding ninety (90) calendar days. Such leave must coincide with the actual taking custody of the child or children.
- B. The Employer agrees to provide for the following rights upon his or her return from any of the above approved leaves without pay:
- 1. The employee shall be returned to his or her position or one of like nature.
- 2. If the employee's position has been abolished through legislation or material reorganization of the agency, the employee shall be given consideration for any other position of similar pay grade and class for which, in the opinion of the Employer, the employee is qualified.

- 3. Employees may return to work prior to the expiration of a leave of absence only upon express approval of the Employer and upon notification of the Employer at least fourteen (14) calendar days in advance of the desired date of return.
- C. 1. Employees shall have the option to request the use of leave of absence without pay, at the amounts listed for the following full years of service. An employee is eligible for a category at the start of the first year listed:

Full Years of Service	Leave Without Pay Amount
1-5	80 hours (10 days)
6-15	120 hours (15 days)
16 and over	160 hours (20 days)

- 2. Such leave without pay shall be without loss of seniority, vacation, sick leave accruals or Legal Holiday eligibility.
- 3. The scheduling and use of this leave without pay shall be in accordance with 7/9/1/E., except that this leave shall typically be scheduled in blocks of at least five (5) consecutive work day increments, unless otherwise agreed to by the Employer. Denial of requests for leave without pay for less than five (5) days shall not be arbitrary or capricious.
- D. Employees designated as Union bargaining team members shall be eligible for leaves of absence without pay, and without loss of seniority, vacation or sick leave accrual for contract negotiations.

Section 12 - Holidays

7/12/1 A. Holidays.

1. The Employer agrees to provide the following nine paid holidays per year:

January 1
Third Monday in January
Last Monday in May
July 4
First Monday in September
Fourth Thursday in November
December 24
December 25
December 31

2. The Employer agrees that if January 1, July 4 or December 25 falls on a Sunday, the following Monday shall be legally observed as the holiday.

- 3. The Employer agrees that if a holiday, provided in 7/12/1/A./1. falls on an employee's regularly scheduled day off, equivalent compensatory time off shall be granted. The Employer may permit such time to be anticipated.
- 4. The Employer agrees that employees required to work on a holiday provided in 7/12/1/A.1. shall be compensated for such holiday by receiving equivalent time off at a later date for actual hours worked not to exceed eight (8) hours for each holiday. Alternatively, the Employer and employee may agree to pay the employee his/her regular rate of pay for actual hours worked on a holiday provided in 7/12/1/A.1. not to exceed eight (8) hours for each holiday. The employee will receive pay for actual hours worked or be compensated with leave credit to be used later, not both.

B. Holiday Time.

Holiday time off due an employee when a holiday falls on an employee's regularly scheduled day off or when the employee has chosen to be compensated for the holiday by receiving equivalent time off as provided in 7/12/1/A.4. above, shall be added to vacation credits and shall be subject to the same scheduling procedure and regulations as are applicable to vacation scheduling.

C. Holiday Premium Pay.

1. When an employee is required by the Employer to work the holidays listed below, the Employer agrees to provide holiday premium pay at the rate of one hundred thirty-six percent (136%) of the total gross area prevailing rate for all hours worked between the hours of 12:00 a.m. and 11:59 p.m. on the following days:

January 1
Third Monday in January
Last Monday in May
July 4
First Monday in September
Fourth Thursday in November
December 24
December 25
December 31

- 2. The Employer agrees that if the holidays cited in 7/12/1/A.1. fall on a Sunday and the following Monday is legally observed as the holiday, the day the holiday is legally observed shall be the day on which holiday premium pay shall be provided.
- 3. These are the only contractual provisions that apply to hours worked on a holiday.

Section 13 - Military Service

- **7/13/1** Except as provided in 7/13/2 below, the Employer agrees to provide the same military service leave provisions to employees of this bargaining unit as are provided to non-represented employees.
- 7/13/2 Differential pay, sick leave, and annual leave for employees activated into certain federal service.
- A. Subject to C., below, an employee who is activated to serve on military duty in the U.S. armed forces shall be paid his or her state salary, less any military pay and housing allowances that he or she receives, during the period in which the employee is on military duty in the U.S. armed forces, unless the military pay and housing allowances equal or exceed his or her state salary, and shall accumulate sick leave and paid annual leave of absence as though no interruption in service has occurred if all of the following apply:
- 1. On or after January 1, 2003, the employee is activated to serve, or is serving, on military duty in the U.S. armed forces, other than for training purposes.
- 2. On the date on which he or she is activated, the employee is either a member of the Wisconsin National Guard or a member of a reserve component of the U.S. armed forces or is recalled to active military duty from inactive reserve status.
- 3. The employee has received a military leave of absence 7/13/1, under s250.35(3), Wis. Stats., or under rules promulgated by the Office of State Employment Relations.
- B. Subject to C., below, or on or after January 1, 2003, an employee who is required to serve, or who is serving, in the U.S. Public Health Service and who is on detail with any of the U.S. armed forces shall be paid his or her state salary, less any federal pay and housing allowances that he or she receives, during the period in which the employee is detailed for duty with any of the U.S. armed forces, unless the military pay and housing allowances equal or exceed his or her state salary, and shall accumulate sick leave and paid annual leave of absence as though no interruption in service has occurred.
- C. 1. Except as provided in paragraph 2., following, beginning on the day in which the employee is activated to serve on military duty in the U.S. armed forces or to serve in the U.S. Public Health Service, the employee shall receive the pay and benefits authorized under A. or B., above, for a period of not more than 179 days. If an employee is eligible to receive pay and benefits for military service under s. 230.35 (3)(a) or under 7/13/1, of this agreement, the employee shall become eligible to receive pay and benefits authorized under A. or

B., above, only after receiving the pay and benefits for military service under s. 230.35 (3)(a) or 7/13/1.

- 2. The governor, by executive order, may extend the period that an employee receives the pay and benefits under 1., above, up to a period of 2 years from the date on which the person is activated to serve on active duty in the U.S. armed forces or to serve in the U.S. Public Health Service. The governor may make three (3) additional extensions under this paragraph, each of which may not exceed a period of two (2) years. Any extension granted by the governor under this paragraph may apply to an individual employee or to a group of employees, as determined by the governor.
- 3. No employee who is eligible to receive the pay and benefits under A., or B., above, may receive the pay or benefits for any service in the U.S. armed forces or the U.S. Public Health Service for any such service before January 1, 2003.
- D. An appointing authority shall permit an employee who is eligible to receive the pay and benefits authorized under A., or B., above, and who has completed his or her duty with the U.S. armed forces or the U.S. Public Health Service to use up to 160 hours of accumulated paid leave before the employee resumes employment with the state. Any accumulated paid leave that is used under this paragraph must be used no later than 30 days after the employee has completed his or her duty with the U.S. armed forces or the U.S. Public Health Service. If, after using such leave, an employee has any paid leave remaining that was accumulated while on duty with the U.S. armed forces or the U.S. Public Health Service, the appointing authority shall permit the employee to carry over the leave into the next calendar year for use in that year.
- E. If an employee who is eligible to receive the pay and benefits authorized under 7/13/2 was activated to serve, or is serving, on military duty in the U.S. armed forces or in the U.S. public health service during the period that begins on January 1, 2003, and ends on the day before the effective date of this Agreement, the employee shall receive the pay and benefits authorized under 7/13/2 for any service on military duty in the U.S. armed forces or in the U.S. public health service during that period.

Section 14 - Jury Duty

7/14/1 The Employer agrees to provide employees who are summoned for grand jury or petit jury service leave with pay at the base pay of the employee. Base pay of the employee is the employee's pay rate excluding any overtime or supplemental pay. When not impaneled for actual service and only on call, the employee shall report back to work unless authorized by the Employer to be absent from his/her work assignment.

Section 15 - Witness Fees

7/15/1 Where an employee is subpoenaed to testify in a legal action and the Employer determines that such subpoena resulted directly from the performance of the employee's required duties, the Employer shall permit the employee to take time off with pay to comply with the subpoena if required to appear during his/her regularly scheduled hours of employment; provided, however, that the employee shall turn over to the Employer any witness fee received.

Section 16 - Retirement and other Benefits under Chapter 40, Wis. Stats.

- **7/16/1** A. The Employer agrees to continue in effect the administration of the Wisconsin Retirement System and other employee benefit plans for state employees as provided under Chapter 40, Wis. Stats. and the appropriate Wis. Adm. Code rules of the Employee Trust Funds Board, Group Insurance Board and Deferred Compensation Board. The amount of coverage and benefits provided under the benefit plans authorized in Chapter 40, Wis. Stats., shall be based upon the provisions of Chapter 40 and the appropriate administrative code.
- B. Employees pay one percent (1%) of the cost of the retirement program through a payroll deduction with the remaining costs included as part of the formula adjustment for state employee benefits.

Section 17 - Life Insurance

7/17/1 The Employer agrees to make available the same life insurance benefits to Craft bargaining unit employees on a cost basis as are provided for non-represented employees.

Section 18 - Leaves of Absence With Pay Due to Injury Under Special Conditions

- **7/18/1** A. Sections 230.36(1), (2), and (3), Wis. Stats., are hereby adopted by reference for employees in this bargaining unit, subject to the conditions and limitations set forth herein. Employees in this bargaining unit who are ordered to accompany listed employees who perform or are ordered in lieu of listed employees to perform the duties defined in ss. 230.36(1), (2), and (3), Wis. Stats., are eligible for benefits under this section.
- B. Injured employees who meet the qualifying provisions of s. 230.36, Wis. Stats., may be granted a leave of absence for up to six (6) months from the date of injury.
- C. Application for a leave of absence under this Section shall be made by the employee or his or her representative to the appointing authority within fourteen (14) calendar days from the date of injury on forms provided by the Employer. In extenuating circumstances, at the discretion of the Employer, the time

limit for application for benefits may be waived. The application shall contain sufficient factual information to indicate the nature and extent of the injury or illness, the circumstances surrounding its occurrence and the qualifying duties on which the application is based and must be accompanied by medical proof of the injury.

- D. Within fourteen (14) calendar days after receipt of the claim, the appointing authority shall notify the employee of his/her decision to authorize or deny the leave of absence.
- E. An employee denied a leave of absence under this Section may, within fourteen (14) calendar days, file an appeal at the third step of the grievance procedure, provided under Article IV of this Agreement.
- F. Employees whose leave of absence is approved under this Section shall be entitled to the percentage of base salary or pay provided under s. 230.36(1), Wis. Stats., plus any interim pay increases. Such leave with pay shall be based on medical and other proof of the injury and the continuing disability of the employee. In the event that the employee is able to return to work but further medical treatment is required for the sustained injury, leaves of absence may be granted to cover the treatment time, providing the attending physician has made a prior determination that such treatment is necessary for full recovery and provided it is not more than six (6) months from the date of injury.
- G. An employee on approved leave with pay under this Section shall be denied the following benefits while remaining in non-work status; accrual of vacation credits for the period of absence; time off for legal holidays which occur during the period of absence; and the accrual of sick leave during the period of absence. Vacation and holiday credits earned prior to the date of injury may be carried over for a period of twelve (12) months from the date of injury, at which time unused credits shall lapse.
- H. Concurrent benefits--except for payments specifically authorized under Chapter 102, Wis. Stats., pertaining to worker's compensation, under no circumstances shall an employee receive more than the percentage of base salary or pay provided under 7/18/1/F. for the job in which he or she was performing at the time of injury.
- I. Employees requesting leave and while on leave with pay shall submit to such physical and/or medical examinations as may be required by the Employer to determine the extent of or continuation of disability and inability to work. Such examination(s) shall be at the expense of the Employer and performed by physicians selected by the Employer. A complete report indicating the nature and extent of disability and prognosis for a reasonable return to duty and date of such return shall be submitted to the Employer. Refusal by the employee to submit to examinations ordered by the Employer or medical treatment ordered by the

examining physician shall constitute ground for disciplinary action and/or termination of a leave of absence under this Section.

Section 19 - Travel and Lodging

7/19/1 The Employer agrees to continue in effect the provisions of ss. 16.535 and 20.916, Wis. Stats., relating to the reimbursement of State employees for expenses incurred while traveling on State business. Employees shall be reimbursed for all reasonable amounts expended for their own meals incurred in the performance of their official duties. Receipts for meals are not required, except for any unusual amount, which must be accompanied by a receipt and full explanation of the reasonableness of such expense. The Employer agrees to reimburse any employee who is authorized and required to use his/her personal automobile or motorcycle in his/her work for the State at the rates biennially established under s. 20.916(4), Wis. Stats. The non-represented employee motorcycle use policies shall apply to employees under this Agreement.

7/19/2 Employees covered by this Agreement shall receive any additional increase in the mileage, meal and lodging reimbursement rates that the Employer may obtain under ss. 16.53(12) and 20.916, Wis. Stats.

7/19/3 When an assigned pool or State-owned automobile is available and tendered and the employee is given the option to utilize his/her personal automobile, the mileage allowance shall be at a rate equal to the approximate cost of operation of State cars, including depreciation. The Employer further agrees that upon the recommendation of the head of the State agency and the approval by the Secretary of Administration, an additional reimbursement at the rate of one cent (\$.01) per mile may be paid to any employee for the use of his/her personal automobile when used as an emergency vehicle or under conditions which may cause excessive wear or depreciation including pulling trailers or which require the installation of special equipment.

Section 20 - Wash-up Time

7/20/1 Employees shall receive reasonable and adequate wash-up time as determined by management, immediately prior to their meal break and immediately prior to the end of the shift.

Section 21 - Call-Back Time

7/21/1 Employees called back for duty or called in will be guaranteed a minimum of three (3) hours of work with pay.

7/21/2 Employees called at home, which is specific to their duties in the Craft and classification, shall be credited ½ hour per day for such calls. In no case shall the employee receive less then ½ hour of pay credit. Non work related business calls

such as scheduling, personnel matters and overtime issues, etc., are not covered by this provision.

Section 22 - Standby

7/22/1 When the Employer requires that an employee must be available for work and be able to report in less than one (1) hour, the employee shall be compensated on the basis of a fee of twenty-five dollars (\$25.00) for each on call eight (8) hour period, or portion thereof, for which the employee is in standby status. The Employer shall attempt, whenever possible, to assign standby on an equal basis to all employees at the same job headquarters who normally perform the anticipated duties as part of their regular work schedule. With prior approval of the Employer, employees may interchange standby scheduling assignments.

Section 23 - Masters Plumbers License

7/23/1 If the Employer requires an employee to obtain a masters plumbers license, the Employer shall annually reimburse the employee, upon evidence of acquisition, the difference between the cost of a masters plumbers license and the cost of a journeyman plumbers license.

Section 24 - Damaged Clothing

7/24/1 The Employer agrees to pay the cost of repairing or replacing watches, eye glasses or articles of clothing damaged in the line of duty where such damage is not the result of normal wear and tear or employee carelessness. The reimbursement for damaged items shall not exceed fifty dollars (\$50.00) for any one incident. The value of such items shall be determined by the Employer at the time the damage occurs. This provision shall not apply to items where the replacement value or repair cost is three dollars (\$3.00) or less.

7/24/2 The parties agree that "Damaged Clothing" claims beyond the above provisions may be filed under the provisions of s. 16.007, Wis. Stats.

Section 25 - Commercial Motor Vehicle Driver's License

7/25/1 The Employer shall pay the cost of a commercial motor vehicle driver's license for employees who are required to possess such a license, when the possession of such license was not a condition of employment prior to appointment.

7/25/2 The Employer will provide all current employees required to have a commercial motor vehicle driver's license with the manual and regulations pertaining to that license. Employees shall be allowed time off without loss of pay to take the initial written and/or driving skills test.

7/25/3 Any renewal fee for the commercial motor vehicle driver's license which is in excess of that now being paid by an employee for a regular license shall be borne by the Employer.

Section 26 - Catastrophic Leave

- **7/26/1** A. This is a program to allow employees to voluntarily donate (transfer) annual leave, Saturday legal holiday and sabbatical leave time to employees who have been granted unpaid leaves of absence due to catastrophic need for which no eligible paid leave benefits or replacement income are available. It is understood that these transfers are a conditional benefit and not a right of potential recipients.
- B. Catastrophic illness or injury is defined as an illness or injury which is expected to incapacitate the employee and which creates a financial hardship. Catastrophic illness or injury may also include an incapacitated family member if this results in the employee being required to take time off from work for an extended period of time to care for the family member.
- C. Transfers may occur among covered employees in the same agency. Transfer between covered employees in different agencies may occur with the affected agencies approval. Covered employees for purposes of this provision means any state employee having access to a Catastrophic Leave Program, excluding employees in positions under s. 230.08(2)(cm), (d) and (k), Wis. Stats., unless approved or authorized by the UW Board of Regents, unclassified employees of the State of Wisconsin Investment Board and elected officials.
- D. The Union shall establish an approval committee, comprised of no more than three (3) Union representatives and one (1) management liaison. Leave requests must be approved by this Union approval committee. Applicants may request a review of denials before this committee.
- E. Donations shall be from within the same employing unit first and may be expanded to the agency level with agency approval. Donations shall be on an hour for hour basis and used in order of receipt.
- F. The Union approval committee will notify the Employer of approved recipients and donors. The Employer will transfer donated leave from donor to recipient leave accounts. Every effort shall be made to maintain the confidentiality of the donor(s) and recipient(s) upon request.
 - G. To be an eligible recipient, an employee:
- 1. Must have completed the first six (6) months of an original probationary period. (Days of catastrophic leave benefits to a recipient shall be considered as leave without pay for probationary extension purposes.)

- 2. Must be on approved unpaid leave of absence.
- 3. Must be in need of at least one hundred and sixty (160) hours.
- 4. Must be absent due to a catastrophic illness or disability of an employee or a member of the employee's immediate family for which medical documentation is provided.
- 5. Must have exhausted all available sick leave and have no more than sixteen (16) hours of combined accrued annual leave, Saturday legal holiday and/or sabbatical leave time.
 - 6. Must not be receiving other salary replacement benefits.
- 7. Must be approved to receive transfer by the Union approval committee.
- 8. Part-time employees will receive leave on a prorated basis up to the FTE of scheduled hours.
 - 9. Must remain a state employee.
- 10. Cannot receive more than eighty (80) days of catastrophic leave benefits per calendar year (Prorated based on FTE).
 - H. To be an eligible donor, an employee:
- 1. Must have completed the first six (6) months of an original probationary period and been a state employee for at least one (1) year.
- 2. Cannot donate a combination of more than forty (40) hours of accrued Saturday legal holiday, sabbatical leave and/or anticipated annual leave in any calendar year (Prorated based on FTE).
 - 3. Must remain a state employee.
- I. An applicant may consult with their Union representative by telephone for assistance with completing application materials for the Catastrophic Leave Program. Special requests for personal meetings or other arrangements based on an employee's disability may be considered.
- J. It is understood that nothing in this Section shall require either the Union or the Employer to take any action determined to be illegal or in conflict with other provisions of this Agreement.

K. It is understood that the provisions of this Section are not subject to the appeal provisions of Article IV of this Agreement.

ARTICLE VIII

Layoff Procedure

Section 1 - Application for Layoff

8/1/1 The Union recognizes the right of the Employer to layoff, in accordance with provisions of this Article, or to reduce the hours of employment. In accordance with the procedures set forth in this Article, such procedures, however, shall not apply to temporary layoff of less than twenty (20) consecutive calendar days, and/or seasonal layoff of seasonal employees.

Section 2 - General Layoff Procedures

- 8/2/1 When a layoff occurs, the following general rules shall apply:
 - A. Layoff shall be by employing unit within the bargaining unit.
- B. Layoff shall be by class and subtitle as set forth in job specifications.
- C. Employees within the layoff group shall be laid off by seniority with the least senior laid off first as defined in Article V, except that the Employer shall be permitted to exempt from the layoff process up to ten percent (10%) of the employees but not less than one (1) employee.
- D. Employees with permanent status in class shall not be laid off while any limited term employees in the same classification, or original appointment employees serving a probationary period in the same classification, are continued in a bargaining unit position within the employing unit.

Section 3 - Notice of Layoff

8/3/1 In the event the Employer becomes aware of an impending reduction in work force, they will notify the Union as soon as practicable.

Section 4 - Employee Counseling

8/4/1 Upon request, employees notified of layoff shall be counseled on their rights and benefits by management in the presence of his or her business representative, if requested.

Section 5 - Reduction in Hours

8/5/1 In the event management determines to reduce work hours in lieu of layoff, it may, at its option, reduce the weekly scheduled hours of all employees by class within an employing unit to not less than thirty two (32) hours per week for a period not to exceed four (4) weeks in one (1) calendar year and such reduction shall not be considered a layoff. If management determines, at its option, to reduce the weekly hours of a part of the employees within the same class within an employing unit, the layoff procedure will be followed in determining which employees shall work the reduced hours.

Section 6 - Bumping

8/6/1 Any shop supervisor or craftsworker supervisor promoted out of a craft position or Lead Craftsworker, may, upon notice of layoff and within five (5) calendar days thereafter, elect to bump downward to a classification within the Craft bargaining unit for which they are capable of performing, as determined by the Employer, in a class within the employing unit in which they had previously obtained permanent status in the classified service.

Section 7 - Recall

8/7/1 When a permanent vacancy occurs in an employing unit from which an employee was laid off, the employee shall be recalled according to the inverse order of layoff as provided in this Article for a five (5) year period from the date of layoff.

8/7/2 Employees are responsible for keeping the Employer notified of their current address and phone numbers. The Employer will make a reasonable effort to notify employees being considered for recall by certified mail and telephone. If unable to contact such employees within five (5) workdays, such employees shall forfeit any further recall rights for the vacancy being considered.

8/7/3 A laid off employee who fails to respond to the offer of recall within ten (10) workdays or who fails to be available for work within ten (10) workdays after the acceptance shall forfeit any further recall rights.

Section 8 - Reinstatement

8/8/1 The Craft unit employee who is laid off may file a request for employment with any employing unit in state service. Upon approval of that employing unit, and within the five (5) year period from the date of layoff as provided in this Article, such employee may be appointed to any vacancy in the same class or any similar class for which he/she might meet the necessary qualifications.

Section 9 - Transfer in Lieu of Layoff

- **8/9/1** A. Within the Department Bargaining unit employees with permanent status in a class may transfer in lieu of layoff to a vacant position within the bargaining unit, within the same department, in his or her current classification.
- B. Between Departments The employee who is to be laid off may file a request for transfer to any department in state service. Upon approval of that department, such employee may be appointed to any vacancy in the same class or any similar class for which he/she might meet the necessary qualifications in the same or lower salary range as the position from which he/she was laid off.

ARTICLE IX

Hours of Work

- **9/1/1** Work schedules are defined as an employee's assigned hours of the day, days of the week, and days off.
- 9/1/2 The parties recognize that operational requirements may make it necessary for the Employer to change the regular work schedules of individual employees as well as the schedules of entire work units; however, the Employer will attempt to keep such work schedule changes to a minimum. Insofar as possible, a minimum of three (3) calendar days notice will be provided to employees whose regular schedules are changed under this article. Once overtime has been declared by the Employer, schedules will not be changed solely to avoid the payment of such declared overtime.
- **9/1/3** At least three (3) working days prior to implementation alternative working schedules, representatives of the trades council will be notified by local management. Nothing in this section shall interfere with management's ability to ensure adequate coverage to meet operational requirements.

ARTICLE X

Health and Safety

Section 1 - General

10/1/1 It is the expressed policy of the Employer and the Union to cooperate in an effort to solve health and safety problems. The Employer shall make reasonable provisions for the safety and health of the employees, and the Union will lend its full support and encouragement to the practice of job safety and health by employees. The Employer further agrees to furnish and maintain in safe working condition all tools and equipment required to carry out the duties of each position. Employees are responsible for reporting any unsafe conditions or practices and for properly using and caring for tools and equipment furnished by the Employer.

Section 2 - Applicable Statutory Provisions

10/2/1 A. Public Employee Safety and Health

Employees under the Agreement shall be covered by s. 101.055, Wis, Stats., relating to public employee occupational safety and health.

B. Toxic Substances, Infectious Agents, and Pesticides (Employees Right to Know Law)

Employees under this Agreement shall be covered by ss. 101.58 - 101.599, Wis. Stats., the statutory provisions which currently apply to the location and/or use of toxic substances, infectious agents, and pesticides in the workplace. Details are provided in the law on the following major program components:

- 1. The types of information which employers must provide to employees.
- 2. The right of employees to refuse to work prior to the receipt of requested information.
- 3. The responsibility of the Employer to provide education and training to employees.
- 4. The complaint resolution procedure to be used by employees who have been denied their rights.
- 10/2/2 Employee complaints under this Section shall be restricted to the remedies available under state statutes and shall not be subject to the grievance procedure (Article IV) of this Agreement.

Section 3 - Protective Clothing and Equipment

10/3/1 The Employer shall furnish protective clothing and equipment in accordance with the standards established by the Department of Commerce.

10/3/2 In addition, when the Employer becomes aware that employees may be exposed, as a result of the employee's assigned duties, to substances that may be hazardous to the employee's health, the Employer shall notify affected employees and the appropriate Union Representative(s) as defined in 4/1/3. In these instances, the Employer shall immediately take those steps it deems appropriate to provide affected employees with necessary protective clothing and equipment.

10/3/3 The employer shall furnish protective foul weather gear when weather conditions are extreme.

Section 4 - Foot Protection

10/4/1 The Employer reserves the right to require the wearing of foot protection by employees. In such cases, the Employer will provide a safety device or, if the Employer requires the purchase of approved safety shoes, the Employer will pay an allowance of fifteen dollars (\$15.00) per year payable as an expense check the first pay period of the calendar year. If an authorized medical certificate is presented, an employee shall be excused from wearing safety shoes.

Section 5 - Eye Examination

10/5/1 If an eye examination for safety glasses is necessary, the Employer will pay the entire cost of one examination during the life of this Agreement.

Section 6 - Transportation of Tools

10/6/1 The Employer agrees to provide transportation for all necessary tools, equipment, material and supplies which cannot reasonably or safely be transported by hand.

ARTICLE XI

No Strike or Lockout

- 11/1/1 Inasmuch as this Agreement provides machinery for the orderly resolution of disputes which relate to this Agreement by an impartial third party, the Employer and Union recognize their mutual responsibility to provide for uninterrupted services. Therefore, for the mutual duration of this Agreement:
- A. The Union agrees that neither it, its officers, agents, representatives or members, individually or collectively, will authorize, instigate, cause, aid, condone, or take part in any strike, work stoppage, sit-down, stay-in, slowdown, or other concerted interruption of operations or services by employees (including purported mass resignations or sick calls) or any concomitant thereof. The Union agrees that the Employer has the right to deal with any such strike activity by:
- 1. Imposing discipline, including discharge or suspension without pay on any, some, or all of the employees participating therein, and/or on any, some, or all of the leaders of the labor organization who so participate, as the Employer may choose;
- 2. Canceling the civil service status of any employee engaging therein;
- 3. a. Seeking an injunction and/or requesting the imposition of fines, either against the Union and/or the employee(s) engaging therein, and/or suing for damages because of such strike activity.
- b. When the Employer notifies the Union by certified mail that any of its members are engaged in any such strike activity, the Union shall immediately, in writing, order such employees to return to work, provide the Employer with a copy of such order by certified mail within twenty four (24) hours of receipt of the notification from the Employer, and a responsible officer of the Union shall publicly order the striking employees to discontinue such conduct through the medium of local newspapers and/or local radio. Failure of the Union to take such action shall be considered in determining whether or not the Union caused or authorized, directly or indirectly, the strike. This clause is not subject to the arbitration provisions of this Agreement but shall be enforced by the ordinary processes of law.
- B. The Employer agrees that neither its officers, agents or representatives, individually or collectively, will authorize, instigate, cause, aid or condone any lockout.

ARTICLE XII

General

Section 1 - Obligation to Bargain

12/1/1 This Agreement represents the entire Agreement of the parties and shall supersede all previous agreements, written or verbal. The parties agree that the provisions of this Agreement shall supersede any provisions of the rules of the Administrator, Division of Personnel and the Personnel Board relating to any of the subjects of collective bargaining contained herein, when the provisions of such rules differ with this Agreement. The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement, each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that all of the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the Employer and the Union, for the life of this Agreement, and any extension, each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated to bargain collectively with respect to any subject or matter referred to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement, or with respect to any subject or matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement, even though such subject or matter may not have been within the knowledge or contemplation of either or both of the parties at the time that they negotiated or signed this Agreement.

Section 2 - Retroactivity

12/2/1 No provision of this contract shall be retroactive unless so specifically stated.

Section 3 - Partial Invalidity

12/3/1 Should any party to this Agreement or any provision contained herein be declared invalid by operation of law or by any tribunal of competent jurisdiction, such invalidation of such part or provision shall not invalidate the remaining portions hereof and they shall remain in full force and effect.

Section 4 - Definition of Probationary Employee

12/4/1 The term "probationary employee" as used in this Agreement relates to all employees serving on a probationary period as defined below. All original and all promotional appointments to permanent and seasonal positions in the classified service shall be for a probationary period of six (6) months, except as specifically provided in s. 230.28, Wis. Stats., and Wis. Administrative Code, ER Pers 13, in the cases of trainees, intern classes, reinstatement, transfer, and demotion, or where longer probationary periods are authorized. The inclusion of this Section in the

Agreement is for informational purposes only and does not constitute bargaining with respect to the subject matter of this Section. Further, any amendment to the aforementioned law or rule governing probationary periods will require an immediate amendment to this Section.

Section 5 - Work Rules

12/5/1 The Employer agrees to establish reasonable work rules. These work rules shall not conflict with any provisions of the Agreement. Newly established work rules or amendments to existing work rules shall be reduced to writing and furnished to the Union at least seven (7) calendar days prior to the effective date of the rule. For purposes of this Agreement, work rules are defined as and limited to:

"Rules promulgated by the Employer within its discretion which regulate the personal conduct of employees."

12/5/2 Work rules are to be interpreted and applied uniformly to all employees under like circumstances. The reasonableness of work rules, which includes both the application and interpretation, may be challenged through the grievance procedure contained in this Agreement.

Section 6 - Contracting Out

12/6/1 When a decision is made by the Employer to contract or subcontract work normally performed by employees of the bargaining unit, the State agrees to a written notification to and discussion with the Union in advance of the implementation. In the event a position is to be abolished as a result of contracting or subcontracting, the Employer will hold advance discussions with the Union prior to letting the contract. The Union will be advised of the nature and scope of work to be performed.

12/6/2 If requested by the union, the Employer agrees to meet and discuss issues of contracting out.

ARTICLE XIII

Termination of Agreement

13/1/1 Except as otherwise provided herein the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect commencing on, and terminating on June 30, 2009, unless the parties mutually agree to extend any or all of the terms of this Agreement. Upon termination of the Agreement, all obligations under the Agreement are automatically canceled, except that the provisions of the grievance procedure shall continue in effect for such period of time as is necessary to complete the processing of any grievance presented prior to the termination of the Agreement.

Negotiations of Future Agreements

13/1/2 In the negotiations of a future Agreement, the parties agree that the Union will submit and explain its demands to the Employer on or before March 1, $\underline{2009}$, and the Employer will submit and explain its demands to the Union on or before March 15, $\underline{2009}$.

NEGOTIATING NOTE #1

2007<u>-2009</u> AGREEMENT

The parties agree that pay increases or decreases which occur between July 1, 2007, and the effective date of this Agreement shall be made retroactive to the day of change in the area prevailing rate for employees who are in the bargaining unit on the effective date of the Agreement.

NEGOTIATING NOTE #2 (For Information Purposes)

2007-2009 AGREEMENT

REDUCTION FORMULA CALCULATION

[with two (2) week vacation option]

Effective July 1, 2005

A.	9.50%	Retirement
	3.83%	Vacation
	3.94%	Sick Leave
	3.45%	Holidays
	0.11%	Life Insurance
	20.83%	Total Percent Benefits Are of Payroll
B.	100.00%	"Direct" Compensation
	20.83%	Benefit Percent of Payroll
	120.83%	"Total Compensation" Percent
C.	17.2%	Percent Benefits are of "total" compensation (Benefit percent/total compensation percent)
D.	82.8%	Adjusted State Prevailing Rate Percent of Gross Area Prevailing Rate (100% less C)

REDUCTION FORMULA CALCULATION

(With three (3) week vacation option) Effective July 1, 2005

A.	9.50%	Retirement
	5.75%	Vacation
	3.94%	Sick Leave
	3.45%	Holidays
	0.11%	Life Insurance
	22.74%	Total Percent Benefits Are of Payroll
В.	100.00%	"Direct" Compensation
	22.74%	Benefit Percent of Payroll
	122.74%	"Total Compensation" Percent
C.	18.5%	Percent Benefits are of "total" compensation (Benefit percent/total compensation percent)
D.	81.5%	Adjusted State Prevailing Rate Percent of Gross Area Prevailing Rate (100% less C)

REDUCTION FORMULA CALCULATION

(With four (4) week vacation option) Effective July 1, 2005

	Effective July 1, 2003
9.50%	Retirement
7.66%	Vacation
3.94%	Sick Leave
3.45%	Holidays
0.11%	Life Insurance
24.66%	Total Percent Benefits Are of Payroll
100.00%	"Direct" Compensation
24.66%	Benefit Percent of Payroll
124.66%	"Total Compensation" Percent
19.8%	Percent Benefits are of "total" compensation (Benefit percent/total compensation percent)
80.2%	Adjusted State Prevailing Rate Percent of Gross Area Prevailing Rate (100% less C)
	7.66% 3.94% 3.45% 0.11% 24.66% 100.00% 24.66% 124.66%

NEGOTIATING NOTE #3 2007-2009 AGREEMENT

Parking/Public Transit Account

It is possible that, during the life of this agreement, the Department of Employee Trust Funds (DETF) will develop an account system similar to or part of the Employee Reimbursement Account (ERA) Program that will allow state employees to pay for work-related parking and transit on a pre-tax basis. The Employer and Union agree that if such an account system is developed and implemented, employees covered under this agreement will be allowed to participate in the system. By agreeing to allow such participation, the Employer and Union also agree that all dates, rules and conditions established by the DETF for the system's implementation and administration will apply.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 1

2007-2009 AGREEMENT

The Employer agrees that employees covered by this Agreement will have the opportunity to elect coverage under any dental plan provided by the Employer to other bargaining units during the term of this Agreement. Employees electing coverage shall pay all plan premiums. The effective date, election period, and other terms of coverage will be determined at the time the dental plan is first made available to any other bargaining unit, and will be the same as terms applying to those units.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING NO. 2

2007-2009 AGREEMENT

During the course of negotiations for the 2005-2007 Agreement, concerns were raised by the union regarding contracting out for services under chapter 16 procurement procedures. As part of ensuring fiscal responsibility in state government, the state is committed to managing contracts for services in a manner consistent with the best interests of the state as a whole. It is essential that the state comply with relevant statutes, administrative rules, DOA procurement policies, and collective bargaining agreements when contracting for services. The state wishes to give effect to the letter and intent of those statutes, rules, procedures, and agreements while continuing to streamline procurement procedures so as not to unduly delay the performance of state services. In an effort to address these concerns, the parties agree to the following:

- 1) DOA will develop a shared format to be used by all agencies to track the purchase of contracted services. If a centralized, electronic procurement system becomes available during the biennium, that system may be substituted. Information gathered in this manner will be shared by agencies with the union on an annual basis. This shared format will be developed and distributed to agencies not later than March 1, 2004.
- 2) State agencies will abide by current state procurement policies and collective bargaining agreements regarding notice of contracting out to unions. In addition to providing notices currently required by existing statutes, rules and procedures, a notice will be issued to the union for all vendor-managed service contracts no later than 5 working days prior to the each service engagement. This notice will include the type of services to be performed and a justification of need consistent with the requirements of the DOA Procurement Manual. If unforeseen circumstances prevent the issuance of the notice 5 working days prior to the service engagement, a notice will be issued as soon as possible consistent with business needs.

3) DOA will issue a memorandum to agencies by January 2, 2004, clarifying the process that is required to be followed when a request for purchasing authority is issued and when the delegated contract process is followed, consistent with relevant statutes, administrative rules, procurement policies, and collective bargaining requirements. This memorandum will emphasize the importance of providing timely notice to affected labor organizations at the appropriate points in the process, and the importance of preparing a justification of need for contracted services that includes a statement showing why the services can be performed more economically or efficiently by contract rather than by current state employees or by hiring permanent, project, or limited term employees.

This Memorandum of Understanding sunsets on June 30, <u>2009</u>, regardless of contract extension, unless the parties mutually agree to extend.

Letter on Filling Vacancies

November 7, 2003

Lyle Balistreri, President Milwaukee Building Trades Council 5941 W. Blue Mound Road Milwaukee, WI 53213

Dear Mr. Balistreri:

During bargaining sessions for the successor 2003-2005 negotiated agreement for the State Building Trades Bargaining Unit, you expressed concerns on the notification process for filling vacancies. This included your concern that current state employees interested in a transfer may be unaware of Trade vacancies such that an outside person may be appointed without the hiring supervisor being aware of that employee's transfer interest.

Providing adequate and timely notice to potential applicants has been a concern of ours and one of the primary reasons for development and implementation of WiscJobs, an electronic vacancy notice system which is updated daily on new vacancies. You need to have access to a computer with internet capabilities to use WiscJobs. This new system also keeps the job posted until the closing date. Older paper systems took time to distribute and only posted the job once so that if you missed that specific notice, you may not be aware of a vacancy even though the position is still available for receipt of applications.

Many libraries and job service offices provide access to WiscJobs and a growing number of State Human Resource Offices located throughout the state are providing access to a computer for WiscJobs job searches. I do recognize that not all state employees have easy access to a computer. For those members of the Trades bargaining unit interested in quick searches of Trade vacancies using WiscJobs or with help from another person, the process is very easy. The instructions are attached to this letter.

Sincerely, Karen E. Timberlake Director

Attachment

Instructions for Using WiscJobs (updated for 2007-2009 contract) to find vacancies in the Trades bargaining unit

On a personal computer logged into the internet:

- 1. At the address line, type in http://wisc.jobs to reach the Wisc.Jobs web site.
- 2. Click on the "<u>Current/Former State Employee</u>" <u>link on the left side of the page</u>.
- 3. On the <u>Current/Former State Employee</u> page, click on "<u>Job</u> <u>Search</u>".
 - 4. On the Job Search page, there are several job search options.

The "<u>Civil Service Transfer</u>" selection option <u>in the Type of Announcement field</u> will generate a list all transfer opportunities available to current state employees. There are typically few announcements in this category.

At the bottom of the page, a drop down box allows the viewer to select the "Bargaining Unit". To generate a list of all announced open Trades vacancies, the viewer would select "04-Building Trades" and push the "Search" button. This will list all current Trade vacancies and tell the viewer how to apply.

If the employee does not have access to a computer:

If the employee does not have access to a computer, he or she could call the Division of Merit Recruitment and Selection, Employment Services Center at (608) 266-1731. The caller should option out of the recorded messages to talk to an Employment Services Representative who can help the caller by searching for Trades vacancies on WiscJobs. Employment Services Center staff are available during normal working hours, 7:45 to 4:30, Monday through Friday, exclusive of holidays.

November 7, 2003

Lyle Balistreri, President Milwaukee Building Trades Council 5941 W. Blue Mound Road Milwaukee, WI 53213

Dear Mr. Balistreri:

During bargaining sessions for the successor 2003-2005 negotiated agreement for the State Building Trades Bargaining Unit, you expressed concerns on the importance of the appropriate use of the state's classification system. Specifically, you expressed concerns that some agencies or campuses were creating jobs where the majority of work assignments would be considered skilled trades work yet the position was assigned to a classification included in the Blue Collar and Non-building Trades Bargaining Unit as a way to save money. Your concern is that this is not only an abuse of the state's classification system but also in violation of the state labor laws in that it undermines the trade union's ability to represent those employees performing skilled trades work.

As Director of the State Office of Employment Relations, my responsibilities include the developing, implementing and monitoring the state's classification system. As provided in s230.09 (2), Wis. Stats., this includes allocating each position in the classified service to an appropriate class on the basis on its duties, responsibilities and authorities. I will ask my staff to be especially mindful of classification activity in the skilled trades area, especially where there may be some overlap between skilled or semi-skilled work. Jobs which spend the majority of time performing skilled trade work should be assigned to trade classification. To do otherwise is wrong and if we find that it has been done, we will take action to correct the misclassification.

As part of the work plan for classification studies this coming biennium, the staff of our Occupational Analysis Unit will be reviewing a variety of semi-skilled blue collar work to update classification specifications for this occupational group. This study will update classification specifications for a number of blue collar jobs such that agencies and campuses should be better able to distinguish between skilled trade and semi-skilled blue collar work.

Sincerely, Karen E. Timberlake Director

BARGAINING TEAMS

Management Bargaining Team

Jennifer Donnelly, Director Office of State Employment Relations

Bert St. Louis, Chief Spokesperson Bureau of Labor Relations

John Wiesman Bureau of Compensation

Jason Beier University of Wisconsin System

Sherri Harris Department of Corrections

Kari Heilman University of Wisconsin System

Faramarz Vakilizadeh University of Wisconsin - Madison

Union Bargaining Team

Lyle Balistreri, President Milwaukee Building Trades Council

Thomas Banish Carpenters Regional Council, Madison

Michael Bernal Tile and Terrazzo, Local 5, New Berlin

Todd Blair Sheet Metal Workers, Local 18, McFarland

Pete Dahl Plumbers Union, Local 75, Madison

Francis Faber, Business Manager Steamfitters Union, Local 394/601, Madison

Gerald Gower Steamfitters Union, Local 601, New Glarus

Larry Green Sheet Metal Workers, Cross Plains

Robert Hegge Carpenters Regional Council, Madison

Frank Hicks Plumbers Union, Local 75, Oconomowoc

Greg Hunt, Business Representative Heat & Frost Insulators, Local 19, Milwaukee

John Jorgensen, Business Manager Painters District, Council 7, New Berlin

Clyde Kaikuaana Carpenters Union, Local 314, Mazomanie

Dan Large IBEW, Local 494, Milwaukee

Jeff Leckwee, Field Staff Representative BAC District Council, New Berlin

Kelvin Nord, Business Manager Elevator Constructors, Local 15, New Berlin

Louis Pody Plumbers Union, Local 75, Beloit

Terry Ullsperger Opertng Plasterers and Cement Masons, Local 599, Wauwatosa